931849 FILED

FILED
Aug 28, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_ (COA No. 71539-9-I)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY AQUININGOC,

Petitioner.

SEP -- 2010

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

CR

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 71539-9-1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When the law changes during the pendency of a direct appeal, the change in the law applies to the appellant. While Mr. Aquiningoc's case was pending on direct review, this Court ruled that the identical pattern jury instruction used to explain the legal requirements of a "pattern of abuse" for an exceptional sentence contains an impermissible comment on the evidence. Mr. Aquiningoc asked for permission to add this issue to his appeal in light of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Brush, \_ Wn.2d \_, 353 P.3d 213 (2015).

change in the law but the Court of Appeals denied his request without explanation. Does the change in the law resulting from this Court's holding in *Brush* apply to a case pending on direct review and require remand for a new sentencing proceeding?

- 2. Assaultive acts that occur in the course of a single incident constitute one unit of prosecution and may not be separately punished under this Court's decision in *Villanueva-Gonzalez*. Mr. Aquiningoc was convicted of two counts of assault from a single incident occurring in the course of an argument. Did the Court of Appeals unreasonably construe and misapply *Villanueva-Gonzalez* when finding on double jeopardy violation for two assaultive acts within a short period of time during a single argument between the same two people?
- 3. The right to trial by jury prohibits the court from imposing an exceptional sentence based on facts that were not proven to the jury. When the court imposes an exceptional sentence based on a jury-found aggravating factor but justifies the sentence based on a different assault that was never presented to the jury, has it improperly imposed an exceptional sentence based on facts not found by the jury?

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Villanueva-Gonzalez, 180 Wn.2d 975, 984, 329 P.3d 78 (2014)

4. In a criminal case, an accused person's waiver of his right to counsel is presumed invalid absent affirmative evidence demonstrating the accused understood the risks at stake, including the potential punishment. The court did not ask Mr. Aquiningoc if he understood the punishment he faced or explain what that punishment was. Did the prosecution prove Mr. Aquiningoc validly waived his right to counsel?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In Anthony Aquiningoc's initial direct appeal, the Court of Appeals ruled he was entitled to a new sentencing hearing due to several errors, including his convictions for two counts of tampering with a witness violated double jeopardy and his exceptional sentence rested on an invalid aggravating factor. CP 36, 42-45 (COA 67604-1-I).

Mr. Aquiningoc was convicted of one count of second degree assault and a second count of fourth degree assault, stemming from an argument with his wife Ashley that turned assaultive. Over the course of about ten minutes, the two argued over whether Ashley was cheating on him, Anthony pushed Ashley onto the bed and intermittently squeezed his hand against the side of her throat for several minutes, he smashed a television as he grabbed things in the room, and he slapped Ashley, which caused her to fall down. 7/19/11RP 38-45, 109, 118-19.

At that point, the police arrived at the apartment and arrested Anthony without incident. 7/19/11RP 46, 116-17. The Court of Appeals refused to treat these two assaultive acts as part of a single course of conduct for purposes of double jeopardy. Slip op. at 8-9.

The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence based on the domestic violence aggravating factor found by the jury. CP 139; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i) and (ii);RP 54-55; Slip op. at 4. This aggravating factor was premised on the pattern jury instruction later invalidated as a comment on the evidence in *Brush*, 353 P.3d at 217-18, decided on July 2, 2015. Mr. Aquiningoc asked to assign error to this comment on the evidence after *Brush* was decided to preserve the issue on direct appeal, but the Court of Appeals denied the request. App. B.

The facts are further set forth in the Court of Appeals opinion, pages 1-6; Appellant's Motion to Reconsider, pages 1-2, 10-122, and the relevant argument sections below.

#### E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The Court of Appeals impermissibly refused to apply a change in the law to a case pending on direct review.
  - a. The reviewing court must apply a change in the law to an appellant when a case is pending on direct review.

When the law changes in the course of an appeal, the change in the law applies to the appellant. *State v. Robinson*, 171 Wn.2d 292, 303, 253 P.3d 84 (2011); *see also In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d 249, 261, 111 P.3d 837 (2005) (material intervening change in the law constitutes "good cause" permitting petitioner to challenge sentence even after statutory time limit passed).

The Supreme Court's decision in *Brush* is the first published decision rejecting this pattern jury instruction. It holds that the pattern instruction given to the jury setting forth the essential elements of the aggravating factor on which the exceptional sentence was based is presumptively prejudicial as a comment on the evidence.

The Court of Appeals refused Mr. Aquiningoc's request to add this issue to his direct appeal after the Brush decision without explanation.

App. B. Mr. Aquiningoc should be allowed the benefit of Brush, which applies to him because his appeal is not final. The Rules of Appellate

Procedure to "are to 'be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." *Robinson*, 171 Wn.2d at 304, quoting RAP 1.2(a); see *State v. Campbell*, 112 Wn.2d 186, 193, 770 P.2d 620 (1989). I"[B]asic fairness demands" that a reviewing court apply a change in the law to a case pending at the time of the change. *Akrie*, *et al. v. Grant*, *et al.*, \_ Wn.2d \_, \_ P.3d \_, 2015 WL 4496344, at \*2 (July 23, 2015).

In order to provide Mr. Aquiningoc with effective assistance of counsel, counsel must notify the courts and seek relief where changes in the laws governing sentencing occur, even when they occur in the course of the appeal. *In re Pers. Restraint of Netherton*, 177 Wn.2d 798, 802, 306 P.3d 918 (2013). In *Netherton*, counsel's failure to file a petition for review or seek a stay of proceedings pending the Supreme Court's consideration of an issue that would decrease her sentence constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id. Netherton* demonstrates that counsel is required to raise new issues that arise during an appeal, even if the timing is inconvenient. The Rules of Appellate Procedure emphasize reaching the merits of an issue when it is just to do so. *See Robinson*, 171 Wn.2d at 304; RAP 1.2(a), (c); RAP 18.8(a).

b. Article IV, section 16 prohibits the court is prohibited from commenting on the evidence when instructing the jury.

A judge may not convey her personal opinion about the merits of a case or instruct the jury that a fact at issue has been established. *State v. Levy,* 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). The constitution prohibits judicial comments on the evidence "to prevent the trial judge's opinion from influencing the jury." *State v. Lane,* 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995); Const. art IV, § 16.<sup>3</sup>

In *Brush*, the pattern jury instruction impermissibly commented on the evidence in violation of article IV, section 16. 353 P.3d at 217.

Just as in the case at bar, the court instructed the jury that:

An "ongoing pattern of abuse" means multiple incidents of abuse over a prolonged period of time. The term "prolonged period of time" means more than a few weeks.

*Id.* at 216; *see* CP 139. This instruction is drawn from the pattern instructions, 11A Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 300.17 (3d ed. 2008) (WPIC).

As the court ruled in *Brush*, this instruction incorrectly interprets the law and constitutes "an improper comment on the evidence because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Article IV, section 16 reads, "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law."

it resolved a contested factual issue for the jury." *Brush*, 353 P.3d at 217. By directing the jury that any abuse occurring a few weeks necessary satisfies the "prolonged period of time" element, the instruction relieved the State of its burden of proof. *Id*.

"Judicial comments are presumed to be prejudicial, and the burden is on the State to show that the defendant was not prejudiced, unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted." *Brush*, 253 P.3d at 218, quoting *Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 723.

In *Brush*, the evidence showed incidents of abuse occurring over a two month period. *Id*. The Court concluded that given the period of time involved, "a straightforward application of the jury instruction would likely lead a jury to conclude that the abuse in this case met the given definition of a "prolonged period of time." *Id*. The prosecution did not meet its "high burden of showing from the record that 'no prejudice could have resulted." *Id., quoting Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 723.

Brush dictates the result here. As explained in the initial direct appeal, COA No. 67604-1-I, the complaining witness Ashley Aquiningoc did not testify to prolonged, purposeful abuse that caused harm or suffering. She said Mr. Aquiningoc called her "fat" on a regular basis after her child was born, at times called her "ugly," and

complained that she did not cook more regularly. 1RP 16-17.<sup>4</sup> She also testified about two incidents where Mr. Aquiningoc acted physically against her, but she said she was not injured either time. 1RP 18-19. Both incidents occurred in 2011, the year of the charged incident, and no violence occurred in the year prior. 1RP 14. The prosecution argued to the jury that there was psychological and physical abuse but it did not refer to the facts that supported this assertion. 2RP 212. The prosecution did not articulate what acts constituted abuse.

Given the limited evidence of what prior conduct constituted the alleged prior "abuse" necessary for this aggravating factor to apply, the State cannot overcome the presumption of prejudice. Although there were two alternative means of this aggravating factor, the jury did not specify which means it relied upon, therefore the impermissible comment on the evidence cannot be saved by referring to the other option before the jury. CP 139. The judicial comment on the evidence requires reversal of the exceptional sentence, as in *Brush*. This Court should grant review and apply its holding in *Brush* to the case at bar, remanding for a new sentencing proceeding at which a properly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The transcripts from the trial were previously transferred to this appeal due to their relevance in assessing the issues on appeal.

instructed jury may consider whether the aggravating factor applies to justify an exceptional sentence.

2. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's holding in *Villaneuva-Gonzalez* and violates the double jeopardy protection of the state and federal constitutions

This Court held that it violates double jeopardy to separately punish several assaultive acts that occur within a single course of conduct. State v. Villanueva-Gonzalez, 180 Wn.2d 975, 984, 329 P.3d 78 (2014); U.S. Const. amend 5; Const. art. I, § 9. To apply this legal standard and determine whether two convictions constitute a double jeopardy violation, this Court must view the events "as charged and proved." State v. Freeman, 153 Wash. 2d 765, 778, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). This standard of review does not rest on viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution. *Id.* at 778-79. Even if it is possible the jury could have viewed the evidence in a certain light, the defining facts must have been those "found by the jury." Id. at 779. If the verdict is ambiguous when considering a double jeopardy issue, doubts must be resolved in the defendant's favor. State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 812, 814, 194 P.3d 212 (2008).

The Court of Appeals misapplied this controlling law. The Court of Appeals opinion labeled the incident as one that occurred over "a relatively long period of time," to distinguish Villanueva-Gonzalez, because an "assault should be treated as a course of conduct crime" unless the incidents are clearly distinct. Slip op. at 8; 180 Wn.2d at 984. In *Villanueva-Gonzalez*, just like the case at bar, there was no clear evidence of the length of time in which the acts occurred, so this Court inferred that "the actions took place over a short time period." Id. at 985-86. Similarly here, the evidence does not show the acts occurred over a long period of time – there was ten minutes between the call to the police, made prior to the assault, and when the police knocked on the door after the assaultive conduct had ended. Ten minutes is not a relatively long period of time under the standard. of Villanueva-Gonzalez. As explained in Kier and Freeman, disputed facts are not resolved in the prosecution's favor when analyzing a double jeopardy error. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions analyzing a double jeopardy violation.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals unreasonably distinguished *Villanueva-Gonzalez* by concocting a "break" in events between the two physical acts. Slip op. at 8. The opinion claims there

was a period of "relative calm" showing an intervening break, yet it describes this purported period of calmness as the time when Mr. Aquiningoc was "destroying Ashley's belongings, trashing her apartment, and arguing" with her in the bedroom. Slip op. at 8. It is illogical to term "trashing" the apartment as "relative calm." As demonstrated this behavior, there was an on-going dispute, even when the acts were not physical. There was one overarching verbal argument during approximately10 to 15 minutes, comprised of nasty words, claims of cheating, and instances of assaultive force.

Applying *Villanueva-Gonzalez* to this case, the acts that occurred in the same location, close in time, without intervening events or evidence of a separate motivation, and should count as a single offense for purposes of double jeopardy. CP 35.

The Court of Appeals misapplied *Villanueva-Gonzalez* to the case at bar. It did not assess the facts as charged and proved, but instead took them in the light most favorable to the prosecution, in an effort to defeat the double jeopardy violation asserted. This Court should grant review due to this conflict and the resulting double jeopardy violation.

# 3. The court impermissibly imposed an exceptional sentence premised on the State's reliance on uncharged conduct not proved to the jury

A person's sentence may not be increased above the standard range based on allegations that were not proven to a jury. *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 302, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004). "[T]he jury must unanimously find beyond a reasonable doubt any aggravating circumstance that increases the penalty for a crime." *State v. Nunez*, 174 Wn.2d 707, 712, 285 P.3d 21 (2012); RCW 9.94A.535; RCW 9.94A.537. The State must prove all facts supporting the aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 9.94A.537(3) (implementing *Blakely*, 542 U.S. 296).

The jury found that the second degree assault offense met the elements of the aggravating factor of domestic violence as codified in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h). The jury was instructed that it could premise this aggravating factor on the alternative means of a pattern of abuse of the victim or having been committed in sight or sound of the victim or defendant's minor child. CP 139 (Instruction 33). The jury was not asked to specify which alternative it found and was encouraged to premise its finding on either alternative. *Id.*; 7/20/11RP 211.

At sentencing, the State argued to the court that it should impose an exceptional sentence based on facts that were not presented to the jury. RP 32-33. It insisted that a prior assault between Mr.

Aquiningoc's sister and himself demonstrated the need for additional punishment. RP 33; 8/22/11RP 9-10. The prosecution argued the court should take as "very significant" that there was a pattern of similar assaults with "another victim," where the acts "were almost the same" and his sister "almost died." RP 33. This other assault was "much more significant" justification for an exceptional sentence. *Id*.

But the prosecution had not pled or proved to the jury that this 1995 assault was part of a pattern of abuse. *See State v. Sweat*, 180 Wn.2d 156, 163, 322 P.3d 1213 (2014). The factual allegations used for increased punishment must be proven to the jury. *Nunez*, 174 Wn.2d at 712; *Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 313.

The jury's finding of an aggravating factor based on domestic violence did not entitle the prosecution to argue that other similar incidents should also be considered part of this pattern and justify an exceptional sentence. Mr. Aquiningoc objected to the State's mischaracterization of the 1995 assault. His sister had also objected at the prior sentencing hearing, explaining that the incidents were very

different, when the prosecutor had made a similar argument.8/22/11RP 13-14.

The judge merely said he was imposing an exceptional sentence due to the domestic violence. RP 54-55. He said this sentence was appropriate due to "the other things that were brought to the Court by Ms. Bracke," the prosecutor. RP 55. It entered only boilerplate written findings of fact that contain no reference to the material facts used to justify the exceptional sentence. CP 94.

The Court of Appeals improperly deferred to the court's sentencing discretion, without acknowledging that this discretion does not permit the court to impose an exceptional sentence based on factual allegations that have not been proved to the jury. This case should be remanded for the court to reconsider the exceptional sentence based only upon permissible aggravating circumstances proven to the jury.

4. Mr. Aquiningoc did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel when the court did not ensure he understood the potential punishment he faced at sentencing.

A valid and effective waiver of the right to the assistance of counsel must unequivocally demonstrate that the accused is competent, and knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waives the assistance of

15

counsel. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); State v. Silva, 108 Wn.App. 536, 539, 31 P.3d 729 (2001): U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const. art. I, § 22. At the time the accused person waives his right to counsel, the record must show he knowingly and intelligently understands, at a minimum, "the nature of the charges, the statutory offenses included within them, the range of allowable punishments thereunder, possible defenses to the charges and circumstances in mitigation thereof, and all other facts essential to a broad understanding of the whole matter." Von Moltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 724, 68 S. Ct. 316, 92 L. Ed. 309 (1948); State v. Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 588, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001). It is the judge's role to "make" certain" the waiver of counsel is understandingly made by conducting "a penetrating and comprehensive examination of all the circumstances." Von Moltke, 332 U.S. at 724

Although there may be some distinction between the extensiveness of the pro se colloquy required before trial as opposed to for a new sentencing proceeding, this "does not, however, eliminate the need for the district court to make an inquiry sufficient to support a finding that the waiver of counsel is voluntary, knowing and intelligent." *United States v. Salemo*, 61 F.3d 214, 219 (3d Cir.1995).

The warnings given to Mr. Aquiningoc prior to his waiver of his right to counsel did not convey the essential information that would permit a valid waiver of the right to an attorney.

Mr. Aquiningoc returned to trial court after a partially successful appeal and immediately renewed a request he had made during his trial to discharge his assigned attorney. CP 46-50. He told the court he would try to hire an attorney, but if he could not get a different lawyer, he would prefer to represent himself. RP 9, 12,19-20. When Mr. Aquiningoc was unable to obtain the money he needed to hire a lawyer, he told the court he would waive his right to counsel. RP 25.

Before letting him represent himself, the judge conducted a brief colloquy. RP 28-31. The judge did not mention Mr. Aquiningoc's charges at the time he waived his right to counsel. *Id.* He did not discuss the possible penalties that applied to Mr. Aquiningoc. *Id.* 

The court said generically, "Okay, and do you understand do you think the legal basis for exceptional sentences as opposed to standard range sentences?" *Id.* Mr. Aquiningoc ambiguously responded, "In the professional capacity Your Honor, I do not, I do not, but as just a layman in propria persona representing myself, I studied enough to understand, yes, Your Honor." *Id.* 

Without inquiring into the nature of Mr. Aquiningoc's "layman" understanding of "enough," the court told Mr. Aquiningoc he would not receive any assistance from the court. *Id.* It warned Mr. Aquiningoc that it "would be better if you have an attorney" but accepted Mr. Aquiningoc's request to represent himself, with prior counsel remaining in the courtroom as standby if Mr. Aquiningoc sought help. RP 31-32.

This discussion between the court and Mr. Aquiningoc does not establish a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of counsel based on an understanding of the danger of self-representation, particularly as premised on the degree of punishment at risk in the sentencing hearing. The "complexity and difficulty applying the SRA" (Sentencing Reform Act), increases with each year's amendments but the court did not inquire into Mr. Aquiningoc's understanding of the degree of punishment at stake. *In re LaChapelle*, 153 Wn.2d 1, 7, 100 P.3d 805 (2004).

Mr. Aquiningoc's desire to separate himself from his assigned attorney does not demonstrate he possessed the requisite knowledge necessary for a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of counsel. His written motion asking to discharge counsel did not mention the charges, standard range, or statutory maximum. CP 47-49. Instead, he

complained about how defense counsel had not spent time with him or investigated mitigating factors he wished to present. CP 48-49. Due to the lack of record establishing a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent wavier of counsel, reversal and remand for a new sentencing proceeding are required. *Id*.

## F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Anthony Aquiningoc respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).