RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Sep 18, 2015, 12:54 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 92184-9

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY AQUININGOC, Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID S. McEACHRAN,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By HILARY A. THOMAS
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #22007
311 Grand Avenue, Second floor
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360)676-6784

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

E. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Aquiningoc's Petition for Review fails to offer adequate grounds and supporting argument to justify discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Under RAP 13.4(b), this court will grant review only:

- (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Aquiningoc does not identify under which provisions of RAP 13.4 his petition falls. With respect to the domestic violence aggravator jury instruction issue, he contends that the Court of Appeals erred in denying his motion to reconsider to permit him to add an additional assignment of error related to the jury instruction on the definition of "prolonged period of time" pursuant to <u>State v. Brush</u>, 183 Wn.2d 550, 353 P.3d 213 (2015).

Even if Aquiningoc had raised the issue regarding the validity of the jury instruction language defining a "prolonged period of time" in his initial briefing on the appeal from the resentencing, Aquiningoc would have been procedurally barred from raising it because he didn't raise it in his first appeal and didn't raise it on remand at the resentencing. Appellate courts generally are precluded from considering issues that a party could have raised in a prior appeal from the same case, but didn't. State v. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d 48, 50-51, 846 P.2d 519 (1993); see also, State v. Worl, 129 Wn.2d 416, 424-425, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) (law of case doctrine precludes appellate courts from considering issues that a party raised or could have raised in prior appeal). The rules of appellate procedure state:

If a trial court decision is otherwise properly before the appellate court, the appellate court may at the instance of a party review and determine the propriety of a decision of the trial court even though a similar decision was not disputed in an earlier review of the same case.

RAP 2.5(c)(1). The Supreme Court has interpreted this rule narrowly:

This rule does not revive automatically every issue or decision which was not raised in an earlier appeal. Only if the trial court, on remand, exercised its independent judgment, reviewed and ruled again on such issue does it become an appealable question.

Barberio, 121 Wn.2d at 50; *accord*, <u>State v. Parmelee</u>, 172 Wn. App. 899, 905, 292 P.3d 799 (2013) (issue becomes appealable after remand only if trial court exercised discretion to review and rule again). "The trial court's

discretion to resentence on remand is limited by the scope of the appellate court's mandate." State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 42, 216 P.3d 393 (2009). A decisive factor in determining whether an appeals court may exercise its discretion to review an issue not previously raised in the first appeal is whether the trial court in fact independently reviewed the issue on remand from the appellate decision. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d at 51; see e.g., Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d at 43 (fact that a trial court had discretion to resentence on remand did not revive defendant's right to appeal where trial court did not in fact exercise such discretion).

In <u>State v. Parmelee</u>, 172 Wn. App. 899, 292 P.3d 799, rev. den., 177 Wn.2d 1027 (2013), on remand from vacation of the exceptional sentence, the defendant argued that the offender score was wrong. The trial court, however, stated that the only issue before it was imposition of the exceptional sentence given that the case was otherwise final. Id. at 907. The judge made it clear that the only issue she was addressing was the limited issue regarding the exceptional sentence, even though she permitted the defendant to argue his scoring issues. Id. 907-08. On appeal from the remand the appellate court declined to reach the offender score issues because they had not been considered by the prior appellate court and the judge had not independently reviewed and ruled upon those issues

on remand. Id. at 908; see also, State v. Traicoff, 93 Wn. App. 248, 967 P.2d 1277 (1998), rev. den., 138 Wn.2d 1003 (1999) (appellate court declined to review issue regarding community placement conditions because the defendant had not challenged the conditions in his original appeal and the trial court had not revisited the conditions on remand when it corrected the length of the term of community placement).

At the resentencing here, the judge explained again that there were only limited issues regarding sentencing that were to be addressed on remand. RP 28. Aquiningoc did not raise any issue regarding the jury instruction language on the domestic violence aggravator, instead arguing that his offender score was wrong. The prosecutor requested the court to impose the same exceptional sentence it had before, except not based on the unscored criminal history aggravator. RP 32. Before imposing sentence, the judge informed the parties that he still believed that an exceptional sentence was warranted and always had been based on the domestic violence aggravator itself. RP 54-55. When standby counsel inquired what the specific sentence was that the court was imposing, the court stated that it was not changing the sentence itself and confirmed it was imposing 102 months. RP 65.

Even if Aquiningoc had raised the issue regarding the language of the jury instruction defining a "prolonged period of time" in his initial briefing in this case, he would still be procedurally barred from raising it on appeal from the resentencing. The remand order from the first appeal was limited, Aquiningoc did not raise the issue at the resentencing, and the trial court did not consider the issue or make any rulings regarding the validity of the jury instruction language on the domestic violence aggravator at the resentencing. Therefore, Aquiningoc is precluded from raising it at this time.

Moreover, in addition to overcoming this procedural constraint,

Aquiningoc would have to show that the alleged error was a manifest error of constitutional magnitude, pursuant to RAP 2.5, since he did not object to the instruction below. RP 199-202. Generally, Washington courts do not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). However, an exception may apply when a party raises a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). Exceptions to RAP 2.5(a), however, are to be construed narrowly. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). In order to show "manifest error," an appellant must show that the alleged error had practical and identifiable consequences in

the trial. Id. It is the appellant's burden to demonstrate how the error actually affected his right to a fair trial such that the alleged constitutional error would fall within the narrow exception of RAP 2.5(a). Id. at 926-27.

Aquiningoc relies upon State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 253
P.3d 84, 89 (2011), to argue that he should be permitted to raise this issue regarding the language in the jury instruction on appeal from the resentencing, asserting that there has been a change in the law that should apply to his circumstances. Robinson did modify the preservation requirement to permit certain, limited issues to be raised on appeal for the first time, but *only when* four factors have been met.

We recognize, however, that in a narrow class of cases, insistence on issue preservation would be counterproductive to the goal of judicial efficiency. Accordingly, we hold that principles of issue preservation do not apply where the following four conditions are met: (1) a court issues a new controlling constitutional interpretation material to the defendant's case, (2) that interpretation overrules an existing controlling interpretation, (3) the new interpretation applies retroactively to the defendant, and (4) the defendant's trial was completed prior to the new interpretation. A contrary rule would reward the criminal defendant bringing a meritless motion to suppress evidence that is clearly barred by binding precedent while punishing the criminal defendant who, in reliance on that binding precedent, declined to bring the meritless motion.

Robinson, 171 Wn.2d at 305. The four factor test permits a defendant who, in reliance on binding precedence, declines to file a meritless motion to suppress evidence clearly barred by that precedence, while discouraging

defendants from bringing meritless motions in the first place. Id. Failure to meet one of the four factors means the issue was not preserved for appellate review. State v. Lee, 162 Wn. App. 852, 856-57, 259 P.3d 294 (2011), rev. den., 173 Wn.2d 1017 (2012).

Robinson is inapposite to Aquiningoc's situation because his circumstances do not meet factors two and three of that test. There was no prior binding constitutional precedence regarding the "prolonged period of time" language, and Brush did not overrule any such constitutional controlling precedent. Moreover, Robinson involved a direct appeal case in which the issue of whether the constitutional search issue could be raised occurred in the *first*, direct appeal of the case, not on appeal from a limited remand.

In re Netherton, 177 Wn.2d 798, 306 P.3d 918 (2013), also relied upon by Aquiningoc, is distinguishable as well. That case involved a situation in which the very issue raised in the personal restraint petition, regarding imposition of a firearm enhancement under the line of <u>State v. Recuenco</u> cases¹, had been raised during the course of the first direct appeal, was the issue that the Supreme Court remanded to the Court of

¹ <u>State v. Recuenco</u>, 154 Wn.2d 156, 110 P.3d 188 (2005) (Recuenco I); <u>Washington v. Recuenco</u>, 548 U.S., 212, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed.2d 466 (2006) (Recuenco II); <u>State v. Recuenco</u>, 163 Wn.2d 428, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008) (Recuenco III).

Appeals to address, and was the issue that the Court of Appeals addressed in its second decision. Id. at 799-801. The court in Netherton concluded that appellate counsel had provided ineffective assistance because counsel had failed to file a petition for review from the second Court of Appeals decision, and had one been filed, the defendant's case would have been stayed during the pendency of the subsequent litigation regarding firearm enhancements and the defendant ultimately would have prevailed. Id. at 802. Contrary to Netherton, Aquiningoc's issue was never raised in the first appeal, was not the issue to be addressed on remand, and was not the

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding analysis, the Court of Appeals opinion, and the State's briefing below, the Respondent respectfully requests that Acquiningoc's Petition for Review be denied.

basis for the Court of Appeals decision on appeal from resentencing.